
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA   CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS    PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

December 3, 2019  9:00 am 
 

1. Call to Order by Mayor Jonathan McCollar

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Councilman Sam Jones

3. Recognitions/Public Presentations:

A) A Presentation by the Georgia Department of Community Affairs
downtown Statesboro with  a GEMS award, "Georgia Exceptional Main Street"

B) Bulloch County Alcohol & Drug Council Presentation of Recognition from the
Governor for TIPS instructors in Statesboro Georgia, Eric Short and Jeff Thompson.

4. Public Comments (Agenda Item):

5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda
A) Approval of Minutes

a) 11-19-2019 Mayor and Council Work Session Minutes
b) 11-19-20109 Council Minutes

6. Second reading and consideration of a motion to approve Ordiance201-12: An
Ordinance amending Chapter 38 of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances adding Article VII
and establishing the Community Redevelopment Tax Incentive Program

7. Consideration of a Motion to Approve Ordinance 2019-13: An Ordinance restating the
retirement plan for the City of Statesboro Employees under the Georgia Municipal
Employee Benefit System (GMEBS).

8. Consideration of a Motion to Approve Resolution 2019-39: A Resolution authorizing the
opening of a separate bank account for the 2019 SPLOST.

9. Consideration of a Motion to Adopt Resolution #2019-40: a Resolution approving the
City of Statesboro’s proposed FY2020 Street Resurfacing List, and further authorizing
the Mayor to execute the GDOT Local Maintenance Improvement Grant (LMIG)
Application. GDOT will allocate $328,952.80 to the City of Statesboro from the grant
which requires 30% matching funds ($98,685.84).  The matching funds will be provided
from 2018 TSPLOST Funds.

10. Consideration of a Motion to Approve the purchase of four new Dispatch Consoles as
well as the Fiber Optic Line.



 
 

11. Consideration of a Motion for Award of Bid to Blanchard Equipment for purchase of a 
2020 John Deere 5100M 4x4 Utility Tractor in the amount of $70,311.02.   This item will 
be purchased with funds from the 2018 TSPLOST. 
 

12. Consideration of a Motion to Approve the conversion of excess vacation leave to sick 
leave beginning in 2019 and make the new policy retroactive for 2018. 

 
13. Other Business from City Council 
 
14.  City Managers Comments 
 
15. Public Comments (General) 

 
16. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” 

“Real Estate” and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A 50-14-3(b) 
 

17. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 







1 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
MAYOR & COUNCIL WORK SESSION MINUTES 

NOVEMBER 19, 2019 

A Work Session of the Statesboro City Council was held on November 19, 2019 at 4:00 p.m. at 
Joe Brannen Hall, 58 East Main Street. Present was Mayor Jonathan McCollar; Council Members: 
Phil Boyum, Sam Lee Jones, Jeff Yawn, John Riggs and Derek Duke. Also present was City Clerk 
Leah Harden, City Attorney Cain Smith, City Manager Charles Penny. 

The meeting was called to order by Mayor Jonathan McCollar.  

1. Quarterly Financial Report
Director of Finance Cindy West reviewed with Mayor and Council FY2020 First Quarter Financial 
report. 

2. Water & Sewer Bond Refunding
City Manager Charles Penny presented to Mayor and Council the cost savings to obtaining bank 
refinancing versus reissuing of the bonds. Davenport our financial advisor believes bank financing 
will have potential savings to the City between the amounts of $1.2 and $1.6 million. The 
refinancing would include the Series 2010 Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds and the four 
outstanding GEFA loans. 

3. Insurance Report – NFP Johnathan Shaw
Johnathan Shaw with NFP presented to Mayor and Council the City of Statesboro 2019 Financial 
review regarding medical and prescription claims. He stated medical claims are on a downward 
trend where prescription claims are increasing. With the two combined the City has a savings of 
close to $1 million since changing from IBG to Anthem BCBS. 

4. Blight Tax
City Manager Charles Penny stated Code Enforcement would need to be in place to enforce this 
Ordinance. He stated the properties that fit the criteria of being blighted would be presented to 
Council for approval to move forward with the process. If approved it would then go to municipal 
court for enforcement. The process for any property would be twelve months. If the property is 
remediated there would be an abatement on the property taxes of 50 percent. It would be up to 
Council to set the multiplier on blighted properties and to set the abatement on properties that have 
been remediated.   

5. Presentation of Resurfacing Methodology
Director of Public Works and Engineering John Washington presented to Mayor and Council the 
street resurfacing program and assessment process. He further explained the Local Maintenance 
and Improvement Grant (LMIG) by Georgia Department of Transportation (GDOT) provides the 
City with $300,000 for street resurfacing.  The city uses these funds to supplement the Street 
Resurfacing Budget. After an evaluation of the city streets pavement conditions, the Engineering 
Department staff compile a list of streets in need of resurfacing. After approval from Council the 



2 
 

list of streets along with the grant application is submitted to GDOT, this application needs to be 
submitted in December for the City to receive these funds.  

6. Public Safety Report – 2018 
a. Fire 
b. Police 

Fire Chief Tim Grams presented reports to Mayor and Council regarding the number of calls for 
service for the 2018 year. The reports included non-emergency calls for service & fire prevention 
activities and fire calls. 
Police Chief Mike Broadhead presented to Mayor and Council the Statesboro crime stats. The 
reports included violent crime, firearm crime, stolen firearms, and burglary and case reports taken. 
Chief Broadhead stated we are on a downward trend of violent crime and burglary.  

 
The meeting was adjourned at 5:10 pm 
 



 
 
  
 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
COUNCIL MINUTES 
November 19th, 2019 

 

1 
 

 
Regular Meeting                               50 E. Main St. City Hall Council Chambers                     5:30 PM 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

Mayor Jonathan McCollar called the meeting to order  
 

2. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE 
Councilman Phil Boyum gave the Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
ATTENDENCE  

Attendee Name Title Status Arrived 
Jonathan McCollar Mayor Present  
Phil Boyum Councilmember Present    
Sam Jones Councilmember Present  
Jeff Yawn Councilmember Present  
John Riggs Councilmember Present  
Derek Duke Councilmember Present  

 
Other staff present was: City Manager Charles Penny, Assistant City Manager Jason Boyles, City Attorney Cain Smith 
and City Clerk Leah Harden. 
 
3. Recognitions/Public Presentations: None 

 
4. Public Comments (Agenda Item):  None 

 
5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

A) Approval of Minutes 
a) 11-05-2019 Council Minutes 
b) 11-05-2019 Executive Session Minutes 

  
A motion was made to approve the consent agenda   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 

 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilman  John Riggs 

Councilman  Jeff Yawn 

Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke 

   



2 
 

6. Second Reading and Consideration of a Motion to approve Ordinance 2019-11: An Ordinance amending 
Article XV of Appendix A of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances specifically amending 1506 (f) regarding 
illuminated signs in the downtown district. 

 
A motion was made to approve Ordinance 2019-11: An Ordinance amending Article XV of Appendix A of the 
Statesboro Code of Ordinances.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
7. Public Hearing and First reading of proposed Ordinance 2019-12: An Ordinances amending Chapter 38 of 

the Statesboro Code of Ordinances adding Article VII and establishing the Community Redevelopment 
Tax Incentive Program 
 

A motion was made to open the Public Hearing 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 

City Attorney Cain Smith gave an overview of the Ordinance. 
 
Marcus Toole with Bulloch County Habitat for Humanity spoke in favor of the Ordinance. 
No one spoke against the request. 

 
A motion was made to close the Public Hearing  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 

   
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilman  Jeff Yawn 

Councilman  Phil Boyum 

Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilman  Phil Boyum 

Councilman  John Riggs 

Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilman  John Riggs 

Councilman  Jeff Yawn 

Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke 

   



 

3 
 

 
A motion was made to approve the first reading of Ordinances 2019-12 with Section 38-165 using the alternative method 
which is 3 years of decreased rate of taxation, also removing any reference to residential and commercial from Sections, 
38-165, 38-162 replacing with “on all properties” and definitions for residential and commercial to be removed from 
Section 38-161    
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
8. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION V 19-10-01: Brent Watts 

requests a variance from Article VIII, Section 801(P) regarding the placement of apartment units on the 
first floor of a building in the Central Business District for 0.20 acres of property located at 9 Hill Street 
(Tax Parcel S28 000005 000).     

 
A motion was made to open the Public Hearing 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
No one spoke for or against the application. 
 
A motion was made to close the Public Hearing  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
   
A motion was made to approve Application V 19-10-01: 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilman  Derek Duke 

Councilman  Phil Boyum 

Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilman  Derek Duke 

Councilman  Phil Boyum 

Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilman  Phil Bouym 

Councilman  Jeff Yawn 

Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilman  Jeff Yawn 



4 
 

 
  SECONDER: 

 
  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 

9. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION V 19-10-03: HSE 
Permit Solutions requests a variance from Article XV, Section 1509(C), Table 5 regarding the 
maximum square footage of building signs in Sign District 3 for 2.10 acres of property located at 
427 South Main Street (Tax Parcel S21 000021 000). 
 

A motion was made to open the Public Hearing: 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
Ted Hasberk, general manager for Holiday Inn Express spoke in favor of the application request. 
A motion was made to close the Public Hearing  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 

A motion was made to approve Application V 19-10-03:  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 
 
 

Councilman  Phil Boyum 

Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilman  Derek Duke 

Councilman  Jeff Yawn 

Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilman  John Riggs 

Councilman  Derek Duke 

Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilman  Jeff Yawn 

Councilman  Phil Boyum 

Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke 

   



 

5 
 

 
10. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION SE 19-10-04: 

Barbara W. Lee requests a special exception for 0.09 acres of property located at 380 Johnson 
Street to utilize a portion of the existing building as a beauty shop in the R-8 (Single Family 
Residential) zoning district (Tax Parcel MS40 000030 001). 

 
A motion was made to open the Public Hearing: 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 

No one spoke for or against the application. 
 
A motion was made to close the Public Hearing: 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 

A motion was made to approve Application V 19-10-04: 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilman  Jeff Yawn 

Councilman  Derek Duke 

Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilman  John Riggs 

Councilman  Jeff Yawn 

Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilman  Derek Duke 

Councilman  Sam Jones 

Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke 

   



6 
 

 
11. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve:  

 
A) APPLICATION V 19-10-09: West District Development, LLC requests a variance from Article 

XXX, Section 3008(A)(e) regarding exterior building materials within the Downtown District 
for 0.166 acres of property located on South College Street (Tax Parcel S19 000001 002). 

 
B) APPLICATION CBD 19-10-05: West District Development, LLC requests approval of the 

proposed architectural drawings submitted for 0.166 acres of property located on South College 
Street, which is located in the Central Business District (CBD). Per Article VIII, Section 803, 
development in the CBD zoning district requires a recommendation from City Council to affirm 
that the plans will keep in mind the integrity and harmony of the Central Business District (Tax 
Parcel S19 000001 002). 

 
A motion was made to open the Public Hearing: 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 

Josh Whitfield spoke in favor of the application request. No one spoke against. 
 

A motion was made to close the Public Hearing: 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 

A motion was made to Approve Applications V 19-10-09 & CBD 19-10-05: 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilman  John Riggs 

Councilman  Jeff Yawn 

Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilman  Derek Duke 

Councilman  Jeff Yawn 

Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilman  Sam Jones 

Councilman  Jeff Yawn 

Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke 

   



 

7 
 

 
12. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve:  

 
A) APPLICATION V 19-10-10: West District Development, LLC requests a variance from Article 

XXX, Section 3008(A)(e) regarding exterior building materials within the Downtown District 
for 0.112 acres of property located on South College Street (Tax Parcel S19 000001 006). 

 
B) APPLICATION CBD 19-10-06: West District Development, LLC requests approval of the 

proposed architectural drawings submitted for 0.112 acres of property located on South College 
Street, which is located in the Central Business District (CBD). Per Article VIII, Section 803, 
development in the CBD zoning district requires a recommendation from City Council to affirm 
that the plans will keep in mind the integrity and harmony of the Central Business District (Tax 
Parcel S19 000001 006). 

 
A motion was made to open the Public Hearing: 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 

No one spoke for or against the applications. 
 
A motion was made to close the Public Hearing: 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 

A motion was made to approve Applications V 19-10-10 & CBD 19-10-06: 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilman  Phil Boyum 

Councilman  Jeff Yawn 

Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilman  Derek Duke 

Councilman  John Riggs 

Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilman  Jeff Yawn 

Councilman  John Riggs 

Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke 

   



8 
 

13. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION CUV 19-10-07: Paula 
Becker requests a conditional use variance from Article VII-A of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance 
for 0.21 acres of property located at 109 Broad Street to utilize the property as an addiction recovery 
community residence in the R-6 (Single Family Residential) zoning district (Tax Parcel S29 000073 
000). 

 
Mayor McCollar stated this agenda item has been removed from the agenda as the applicant has withdrawn 
this application. 
 
14. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION V 19-10-08: Richard 

Haynes requests a variance from Article IV, Section 403(A) to reduce the minimum lot size 
requirements for property to be considered for the R-20 (Single Family Residential) zoning district 
in order to develop an additional single family residence on 0.82 acres of property located at 103 
Niver Road (Tax Parcel MS50 000044 000). 
 

A motion was made to open the Public Hearing: 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 

No one spoke for or against the application. 
 

A motion was made to close the Public Hearing: 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 

A motion was made to approve Application V19-10-08: 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilman  Jeff Yawn 

Councilman  John Riggs 

Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilman  Derek Duke 

Councilman  John Riggs 

Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilman  Phil Boyum 

Councilman  Sam Jones 

Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke 

   



 

9 
 

15. Consideration of a Motion to Approve Resolution 2019-37: A Resolution Adopting a Language 
Access Plan for the 2019 Community Development Block Grant project. 
 

A motion was made to approve Resolution 2019-37 adopting a Language Access Plan for the 2019 Community 
Development Block Grant project. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 

16. Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2019-38: A Resolution approving application for 
the Bloomberg Philanthropies Asphalt Art Innovative Grant Program. 
 

A motion was made to approve Resolution 2019-38 for application to the Bloomberg Philanthropies Asphalt Art 
Innovative Grant Program. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

17. Consideration of a Motion to approve the positions of Public Information Officer and an Assistant to the City 
Manager. 
 

A motion was made to approve the positions of Public Information Officer and an Assistant to the City Manager and to 
remove the position of the second Assistant City Manager. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilman  John Riggs 

Councilman Sam Jones 

Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilman  Jeff Yawn 

Councilman Phil Boyum 

Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke 

   

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilman  John Riggs 

Councilman  Jeff Yawn 

Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke 

   



10 
 

18. Other Business from City Council: None 
 
19.  City Managers Comments 

 
City Manager Charles Penny introduced to Mayor and Council the new Director for Public Work and Engineering John 
Washington and the new Director for Human Resources Demetrius Bynes. 

 
20. Public Comments (General): None   

 
21. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” “Real Estate” 

and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A. 50-14-3(b). 
 
No Executive Session was held. 

 
22. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 

 
A motion was made adjourn the meeting.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 6:20 pm.   
 
 

__________________________________ 
Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 

 
 

__________________________________ 
Leah Harden, City Clerk 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilman Jeff Yawn 

Councilman  John Riggs 

Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke 

   



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan M McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Sam Lee Jones 
Jeff B. Yawn 
John C. Riggs 
Derek Duke 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
From: Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 
Date: November 22, 2019 
 
RE: December 3, 2019 City Council Agenda Items 
 
Policy Issue: Second reading and consideration of proposed amendment to 
Chapter 38 of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances adding Article VII and 
establishing the Community Redevelopment Tax Incentive Program 
 
Recommendation: N/A 
 
Background: On November 19, 2019 Council passed attached draft’s first 
reading 5-0. 

 
Budget Impact: TBD 
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
Attachments: Proposed amendment   



1  
  

Ordinance 2019-12: 

Statesboro, Georgia, Code of Ordinances – Community Redevelopment Tax Incentive 
Program  

Chapter 38, Article VII. – COMMUNITITY REDEVELOPMENT TAX INCENTIVE 
PROGRAM  

  

Section 38-160 – Purpose.  
Section 38-161 – Definitions.  
Section 38-162 – Levy of increase ad valorem tax on blighted real property.  
Section 38-163 – Official identification of property maintained in blighted condition. 
Section 38-164 – Remediation or redevelopment to remove designation of blighted                               
condition.  
Section 38-165 – Decreased rate of taxation to be applied after successful remedial                                    
action or redevelopment of blighted property.  
Section 38-166 – Duty of code official to provide notice to county tax commissioner.  

  
Section 38-160 – Purpose.  

The existence of real property which is maintained in a blighted condition 
increases the burden of the state and local government by increasing the need for 
government services, including but not limited to social services, public safety services, 
and code enforcement services.  Rehabilitation of blighted property decreases this need 
for such government services.  

In furtherance of its objective to eradicate conditions of slum and blight within 
the City, the Mayor and Council in exercise of the powers granted to municipal 
corporations at Chapter 61, Urban Redevelopment, of Title 36 of the Official Code of 
Georgia Annotated, has designated those areas of the City where conditions of slum and 
blight are found or are likely to spread.  

In recognition of the need for enhanced governmental services and in order to 
encourage private property owners to maintain their real property and the buildings, 
structures and improvement thereon in good condition and repair, and as an incentive to 
encourage community redevelopment, a community redevelopment tax incentive 
program is hereby established as authorized by Article IX, Section II, Paragraph VII(d) 
of the 1983 Constitution of the State of Georgia.  

  
Section 38-161 – Definitions.  

Blighted property, blighted, or blight means any urbanized or developed property which:  
  (A) Presents two or more of the following conditions:  

(1) Uninhabitable, unsafe, or abandoned structure;   



  
  
  

2  
  

(2) Inadequate provisions for rain, ventilation, light, air, or sanitation;   
(3)  An imminent harm to life or other property caused by fire, flood, hurricane, 
tornado, earthquake, storm, or other natural catastrophe respecting which the governor 
has declared a state of emergency  under the state law or has certified the need for 
disaster assistance under federal law; provided, however, this division shall not apply  to 
property unless the relevant public agency has given notice in  writing to the property 
owner regarding specific harm caused by the property and the owner has failed to take 
reasonable measures to remedy the harm;   
(4) A site identified by the federal Environmental Protection Agency as a superfund 
site pursuant to 42 U.S.C. Section 9601, et seq., or having environmental contamination 
to an extent that requires remedial investigation or a feasibility study;   
(5)Repeated illegal activity on the individual property of which the property owner knew 
or should have known; or   
(6)The maintenance of the property is below state, county, or municipal codes for at least 
one year after written notice of the code violation to its owner; and  
  
 (B) Is conducive to ill health, transmission of disease, infant mortality, or crime in the 
immediate proximity of the property. Property shall not be deemed blighted solely 
because of esthetic conditions.  
  
 ’Building Inspector’ means a certified inspector possessing the requisite qualifications to 
determine minimal code compliance.  
 
‘Code official’ means the City Manager or such officer or employee of the City as 
designated by the City Manager to perform the duties and responsibilities  hereafter set 
forth in this article. 
 
‘Community redevelopment’ means any activity, project, or service necessary  or 
incidental to achieving the redevelopment or revitalization of a redevelopment  area or 
portion thereof designated for redevelopment through an urban  redevelopment plan or 
thorough local ordinances relating to the repair, closing, and demolition of buildings 
and structures unfit for human habitation.  
 
‘Governing authority’ means the Mayor and Council of the City of Statesboro, a 
Georgia municipal corporation.  
  
‘Millage’ or ‘millage rate’ means the levy, in mills, which is established by the   
governing authority for purposes of financing, in whole or part, the levying  jurisdiction’s 
general fund expenses for the fiscal year.  



3  
  

  
‘Person’ means such individual(s), partnership, corporations, business entities and 
associations which return real property for ad valorem taxation or who are  chargeable by 
law for the taxes on the property.  
 

Section 38-162 – Levy of increase ad valorem tax on blighted real property.  
  
    There is hereby levied on all property within the City which has been  
officially identified as maintained in a blighted condition an increased ad valorem  tax by 
adding a factor of seven (7.0) to the millage rate applied to the property, so that such 
property shall be taxed at a higher millage rate generally applied in the municipality, or 
otherwise provided by general law; provided, however, Residential property on which there 
is situated a dwelling house which is being occupied as the primary residence of one or more 
persons shall not be subject to official identification as maintained in a blighted condition 
and shall not be subject to increase taxation.  
 
     Such increased ad valorem tax shall be applied and reflected in the first tax bill   
 rendered following official designation of a real property as blighted.    
  
     Revenues arising from the increased rate of ad valorem taxation shall, upon   
 receipt, be segregated by the City Manager and used only for community redevelopment 
purposes, as identified in an approved urban redevelopment program, including defraying the 
cost of the City’s program to close, repair, or demolish unfit buildings and structures.  
  
Section 38-163 – Official identification of property maintained in blighted condition.  
  
(A) In order for a parcel of real property to be officially designated as maintained in a blighted 

condition and subject to increased taxation, the following steps must be completed:  
  
(1) An inspection must be performed on the parcel of property.  In order for an inspection to be 
performed,  
  

a. A request may be made by the code official or by at least one     
  resident of the City for inspection of a parcel of property, said     
  inspection to be based on the criteria as delineated in ordinance, or 

          
b.  The code official may cause a survey of existing housing conditions to be           
performed, or may refer to any such survey conducted or finalized within the 
previous five years, to locate or identify any parcels which may be in a blighted 
condition and for which a full inspection should be conducted to determine if that 
parcel of property meets the criteria set out in this article for designation as being 
maintained in a blighted condition.  

 



  
  
  

4  
  

c. Any individual request or survey produced under this subsection shall be 
reviewed, amended as desired, and approved at open meeting by Mayor and 
Council before any further action is undertaken. 

  
(2) A written inspection report of the findings for any parcel of property inspected 
pursuant to subsection (1) above shall be prepared and submitted to the code official. 
Where feasible, photographs of the conditions found to exist on the property on the date 
of inspection shall be made and supplement the inspection report. Where compliance 
with minimum construction, housing, occupancy, fire and life safety codes in effect    
within the City are in question, the inspection shall be conducted by an inspector 
possessing the requisite qualifications to determine minimal code compliance.  

  
(3) Following completion of the inspection report, the code official shall make a 
determination, in writing, that a property is maintained in a blighted condition, as defined 
by this article, and is subject to increased taxation.  

  
(4) The code official shall cause a written notice of his determination that the real 
property at issue is being maintained in a blighted condition to be served upon the 
person(s) shown on the most recent tax digest of Bulloch County as responsible for 
payment of ad valorem taxes assessed thereon;  provided, however, where through the 
existence of reasonable diligence it  becomes known to the code official that real 
property has been sold or conveyed since publication of the most recent tax digest, 
written notice shall be given to the person(s) known or reasonably believed to then own 
the property or be chargeable with the payment of ad valorem taxes thereon, at the best 
address available.  Service in the manner set forth at O.C.G.A. § 41-2-12 shall constitute 
sufficient notice to the property’s owner or person chargeable with the payment of ad 
valorem taxes for purpose of this section, except that posting of the notice on the 
property will not be required.  

  
(B)       The written notice given to the person(s) chargeable with the payment of ad      
 valorem taxes shall notify such person of the code official’s determination the real   
  property is being maintained in a blighted condition and shall advise such person    
  of the hours and location at which the person may inspect and copy the code       
 official’s determination and any supporting documentation.  Persons notified that     
  real property of which the person(s) is chargeable with the payment of ad valorem    
  taxes shall have 30 days from the receipt of notice in which to request a hearing    
  before the Municipal Court.  Written request for hearing shall be filed with the      
  code official and shall be date stamped upon receipt.  Upon receipt of a request      
  for hearing, the code official shall notify the Municipal Court and the building      



5  
  

  inspector or person who performed the inspection and prepared the inspection      
  report.  
  
(C)      Within 30 days of receipt of a request for hearing, the Municipal Court Clerk      

 shall set a date, time, and location for the hearing and shall give at least ten     
 business days’ notice to the person(s) requesting the hearing, the code official and   
 the building inspector or person who performed the inspection and prepared the     
 inspection report.  Notice of scheduled hearings shall be published as a legal      
 advertisement in the Statesboro Herald, or other designated legal organ in      
 Bulloch County, at least five days prior to the hearing.  Hearings may be         
 continued by the Municipal Court judge upon request of any party, for good       
 cause.    

  
(D) At the hearing, the code official shall have the burden of demonstrating by a          

preponderance of the evidence that the subject property is maintained in a blighted condition, 
as defined by this article.  The Municipal Court judge shall cause a record of the evidence 
submitted at the hearing to be maintained. Upon hearing from the code official and/or their 
witnesses and the person(s) requesting the hearing and/or their witnesses, the Judge of 
Municipal Court shall make a determination either affirming or reversing the determination 
of the code official.  The determination shall be in writing and copies thereof shall be served 
on the parties by certified mail or statutory overnight delivery.  The determination by the 
court shall be deemed final.  A copy of such determination shall also be served upon the Tax 
Commissioner of  Bulloch County, who shall include the increased tax on the next regular 
tax bill rendered on behalf of the City.  

 
(E) Persons aggrieved by the determination of the court affirming the determination of the code 

official may petition the Superior Court of Bulloch County for a writ of certiorari within 30 
days of issuance of the court’s written determination.  

  
Section 38-164 – Remediation or redevelopment to remove designation of blighted 
condition.  
  
(A) A property owner or person(s) who is chargeable with the payment of ad       

 valorem taxes on real property which has been officially designated pursuant      
 to this article as property maintained in a blighted condition may petition the        
 code official to lift the designation, upon proof of compliance with the        
 following:  
 
(1) Completion of work required under a plan of remedial action or          
redevelopment approved by the City’s Director of Planning and Development which 
addresses the conditions of blight found to exist on or within the property, including 
compliance with all applicable minimum codes; or   
 



  
  
  

6  
  

(2) Completion of work required under a court order entered in a proceeding brought 
pursuant to Article II of this Chapter. 

  
(B) Before action on a petition to lift the designation, the code official shall cause the       

property to be thoroughly inspected by a building inspector who, by written inspection 
report, shall certify that all requisite work has been performed to applicable code in a 
workmanlike manner, in accordance with the specifications of the plan of remedial action or 
redevelopment, or applicable court order.  Upon finding required work to be satisfactorily 
performed, the code official shall issue a written determination that the real property is no 
longer maintained in a blighted condition. Copies of this determination shall be served upon 
the person(s) chargeable with the payment of ad valorem taxes, and upon the Tax 
Commissioner of Bulloch County.  

  
(C) All plans for remedial action or redevelopment shall be in writing, signed by the person(s) 

chargeable with the payment of ad valorem taxes on the real property and the City’s Director 
of Planning and Development, and contain the following:    

  
1. The plan shall be consistent with the City’s comprehensive plan and all laws and 
ordinances governing the subject property, and shall conform to any urban 
redevelopment plan adopted for the area within which the properties lies;  
 
2.The plan shall set forth in reasonable detail the requirements for repair,        
closure, demolition, or restoration of existing structures, in accordance with minimal 
statewide codes; where structures are demolished, the plan shall include provisions for 
debris removal, stabilization, and landscaping of the property;  
 
3.On parcels of five acres or greater, the plan shall address the relationship to local 
objectives respecting land uses, improved traffic, public transportation, public utilities, 
recreational and community facilities, and other  public improvements.  

  
4. The plan shall contain verifiable funding sources which will be used to       

complete its requirements and show the feasibility thereof;  
  

5. The plan shall contain a timetable for completion of required work; and  
  

6. Any outstanding ad valorem taxes (state, school, county and city, including the 
increased tax pursuant to this article) and governmental liens due and payable on the 
property must be satisfied in full.    

  



7  
  

Section 38-165 – Decreased rate of taxation to be applied after successful remedial action or 
redevelopment of blighted property.  
  

Property which has had its designation as being maintained in a blighted condition 
removed as provided in this section will become eligible for a decrease in the rate of city 
ad valorem taxation equivalent to 50 percent of the normal millage rate applied to the 
property, applied at the time of issuance of the subsequent tax bill, as provided by general 
law. This decreased rate is applied to three years tax bills. 

  
Section 38-166 – Duty of code official to provide notice to county tax commissioner.  
  
It shall be the duty of the building official to notify the Tax Commissioner of Bulloch County in 
writing as to designation or removal of designation of a specific property as maintained in a 
blighted condition.  Such notice shall identify the specific property by street address and tax 
map, block and parcel number, as assigned by the Bulloch County Tax Assessor’s Office.  The 
code official shall cooperate with the tax commissioner to assure accurate tax billing of those 
properties subject to increased or reduced ad valorem taxation under this article.     
            

  
  
  

  

  

  

  
  
  

  

























































































 

   CITY OF STATESBORO 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
To:  Mr. Charles Penny, City Manager 
 
 
From:  Cindy West, Finance Director 
 
 
Date: November 25, 2019 
 
 
RE: Opening of the 2019 Special Purpose Local Option Sales Tax (SPLOST) Bank 
Account 
 
Policy Issue: Opening of a bank account. 
 
Recommendation: Approval to open the 2019 SPLOST Bank Account. 
 
Background:  The City of Statesboro entered into an intergovernmental 
agreement for the use and distribution of proceeded from the 2019 SPLOST with 
Bulloch County on July 31, 2018.  Per the agreement, the City is required to open 
a separate bank account for the 2019 SPLOST proceeds. Therefore, it is my 
recommendation to open the 2019 SPLOST Bank Account. 
 
Budget Impact: N/A 
 
City Manager’s Recommendation:  Approve 
 
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
 
Attachments:  Resolution 
 
 
 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Sam Lee Jones 
Jeff B. Yawn 
John C. Riggs 
Derek Duke 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
                   I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 



RESOLUTION #2019-39:  A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE OPENING OF A 
SEPARATE BANK ACCOUNT FOR THE 2019 SPLOST BANK ACCOUNT. 

 
 WHEREAS, the City Council entered into an intergovernmental agreement for 
the use and distribution of Proceeds from the 2019 Special Purpose Local Option Sales 
Tax with Bulloch County; 
 
 WHEREAS, it is required by the intergovernmental agreement, that a separate 
bank account be established for the 2019 SPLOST proceeds;  
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the 
City of Statesboro, Georgia this 3rd day of December, 2019 that the City Manager and 
Director of Finance are hereby authorized and directed to open a new bank account at 
BB&T for the City of Statesboro’s 2019 SPLOST Bank Account. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that any Resolution or parts of a Resolution in 
conflict herewith are hereby rescinded. 
 
            City of Statesboro, Georgia 
  
 ___________________________ 
 Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor          
       
 
 ___________________________ 
 Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 



 

 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum, District 1 
Sam Jones, District 2 
Jeff Yawn, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Derek Duke, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: www.statesboroga.gov 

 

To:  Charles Penny, City Manager 
Jason Boyles, Assistant City Manager 

 
From:  John Washington, Director of Public Works & Engineering/City Engineer 
 
Date:  November 25, 2019 
 
RE: FY2020 Resurfacing List for GDOT Local Maintenance and Improvement Grant 

(LMIG) Application  
 
Policy Issue: Street Resurfacing  
 
Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the attached resurfacing project list and 
resolution for the GDOT LMIG FY2020 application. 
 
Background: The Local Maintenance and Improvement Grant (LMIG), is an annual program in 
which GDOT allocates transportation funds to local governments. The City uses these funds to 
supplement the Street Resurfacing Budget. The Public Works & Engineering Department staff 
evaluates City streets and pavement conditions annually to prioritize and select streets for the 
yearly LMIG resurfacing list that is submitted to GDOT. The list compiled considers streets from 
all council districts. 
 
Budget Impact: For the FY2020 LMIG Application, the GDOT formula amount provides 
$328,952.80 to the City of Statesboro with a local match of 30% ($98,685.84).  The City has 
appropriated this match from 2018 TSPLOST funds. 
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
Attachment(s): Resolution 2019-40 
   Street Resurfacing List 
 
City Manager’s Recommendation: Approval of project list and grant application resolution. 
 



RESOLUTION #2019-40: 

 A Resolution approving the City of Statesboro Proposed Fiscal Year 2020 Street Resurfacing Program 
List and further authorizing the Mayor to execute the Georgia Department of Transportation (GDOT) 
Local Maintenance & Improvement Grant (LMIG) Application for Fiscal Year 2020. 

THAT WHEREAS, the City participates in the Georgia Department of Transportation Local Maintenance 
Improvement Grant Program; 

WHEREAS, the Program provides funding assistance for road improvement projects within the City of 
Statesboro for the benefit of the citizenry; 

WHEREAS, the Program requires that the City present a list of streets for participation annually and that 
the City execute the Local Government Affidavit and Certification in order to receive funding 
assistance for improvements to the listed streets; 

WHEREAS, the Program application requires a minimum 30% local funding match; and, 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Statesboro, Georgia as 
follows: 

Section 1. The City Manager recommends a list of roads for funding through the LMIG program 
prepared by the Director of Public Works & Engineering. 

Section 2. City Council has reviewed and approves the list as attached to this resolution and 
authorizes the Mayor to execute the Local Government Affidavit and Certification and all other 
documents required by the Georgia Department of Transportation related to this grant 
application. 

Section 3. That this Resolution shall be and remain effective from and after its date of adoption. 

 

 

Adopted this 3rd day of December, 2019. 

CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 

 

By:  ________________________                          
Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 

 
 

Attest:  ______________________      
                       Leah Harden, City Clerk                                                 



District Street Name Beginning End Miles Highest RoadBotics Rating

1 Gary Street East Main Street Kingswood Avenue 0.15 5

1 Courtland Street Oak Street Railroad Street 0.06 5

1 Wilburn Road Hart Street Wilburn Circle 0.29 3

1 Gordon Street/Hill Street East Main Street Northside Drive 0.12 4

2 East Vine Street South Main Street South Mulberry Street 0.22 5

2 Pine Street East Terminus West Terminus 0.10 4

2 Bulloch Street Johnson Street Martin Luther King Jr. Drive 0.30 3

3
Park Avenue (Northbound section 

only)
Stillwell Street Savannah Avenue 0.58 4

4 Bel-Lane Avenue Pitt Moore Road Wendowwod Drive 0.08 2

4 Georgia Avenue Chandler Road Fair Road 0.54 3

4 Rogers Court Rogers Road Cul-de-sac 0.05 2

4,5 Lanier Drive 0.05 3

4,5 Lanier Drive 0.05 3

5 Sherwood Court Belair Drive Cul-de-sac 0.10 2

5 Debbie Lane Cawana Road Lee Drive 0.07 3

5 Lee Drive Edwina Drive Terminus 0.15 3

5 Garden Way Oakcrest Drive Cul-de-sac 0.05 3

5 Scotdale Court Oakcrest Drive Cul-de-sac 0.07 3

Totals 3.03

District 1 mileage: 0.62

District 2 mileage: 0.62

District 3 mileage: 0.58

District 4 mileage: 0.67

District 5 mileage: 0.54

Bus stop section near Kennedy Hall

Bus Stop section in front of Cambridge at Southern







STATESBORO POLICE DEPARTMENT 
Ph 912-764-9911 

BUDGET IMPACT: 

25 West Grady Street, Statesboro, Georgia 30458 Fx 912-489-5050 

The fiber-optic cable solution would give us an internet-based radio 

connection that would allow our system to operate from a remote 

location that had internet access. If police headquarters were to be 

damaged due to flooding, tornado, etc, a dispatcher could access our 

system from a remote location and we would be back in service 

immediately. The fiber-optic solution would also allow dispatch to over

ride a stuck transmitter on a mobile radio, would not operate solely as a 

two-way radio, and would allow for emergency locator button signals to 

be immediately identified within our dispatch system. Even with the 

addition of the fiber-optic solution, the radio system could operate in its 

current manner, allowing for a redundancy that is necessary in a truly 

emergency-capable system. 

We received a quote from Northland Cable to install and maintain a fiber

optic connection from police headquarters to the Rucker Lane tower site. 

Based upon the recommendation of the Director of Administrative 

Services, this cost has been spread out over 36 months (which includes 

the costs of the service). The total cost is $28,728, or $798/month for 36 

months. 

These projects were not part of the budget, nor part of the overall radio 

project upgrade. The Finance Director, Cindy West, has formulated a 

plan to pay for the replacement consoles and the monthly costs for the 

fiber project can be paid out of existing budget monies and planned for 

in the next fiscal year budget. 

COUNCIL DISTRICT:  All 

CITY MANAGER'S 

RECOMMEDATION: 

Approve the replacement of the dispatch consoles and purchase the fourth console 

and installation of the fiber by Northland Cable. 

ATTACHMENT: Two quotes from Motorola and on quote from Northland Business













 
 

 
Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 

Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

 Leah Harden, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum, District 1 
Sam Jones, District 2 
Jeff Yawn, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Derek Duke, District 5 

 
  
  
 
  
 
 
    
To:   Charles Penny, City Manager 
  John Washington, Public Works / Engineering Director 
 
From:  Robert Seamans, Streets and Parks Superintendent 
 
Date:  November 21, 2019 
 
RE:  Bid Award – 2020-13 Tractor - Street Division 
 
Policy Issue:  Purchasing Policy 
 
Recommendation:  
Staff recommends and request the Consideration of a Motion for Award of Bid 
to Blanchard Equipment for purchase of a 2020 John Deere 5100M 4x4 Utility 
Tractor in the amount of $70,311.02.   This item will be purchased with funds from 
the 2018 TSPLOST. 
 
Background:  
The Tractor will be utilized in the Street Division of the Public Works and 
Engineering Department. Sealed bids for the purchase of 2020 4x4 Tractor were 
received on November 20, 2019 and are as follows: 
Blanchard Equipment - $70,311.02 
Tidewater Ag and Construction - $73,750.00 
The low bidder, Blanchard Equipment, meets the requirements of the bid 
package, specifications and warranty needed. 
The 2020 4x4 Tractor, if approved, is funded in the 2018 TSPLOST.  
 
Budget Impact:   
Reduce Maintenance Cost 

Council Person and District: 
N/A (citywide) 
 
Attachments: 
Bid Documents 
 
CC:   
Darren Prather, Director Central Services 
Streets Equipment File STS 2020 - 13 






















	12-03-2019 Council Agenda
	11-19-2019 council work session minutes.doc
	11-19-2019 Council Minuets
	12-03 Blight Tax  Memo 2 (1)
	12-03 Ordinance Community Development Incentive Tax
	12-03 GEMBS Short
	12-03 Memo Opening 2019 SPLOST Bank Account
	12-03 SPLOST BANK RESOLUTION
	12-03 LMIG FY2020 Memo
	12-03 LMIG FY2020 Resolution
	12-03 LMIG FY2020 Project List
	12-03 Dispatch Consoles-fiber optic line
	12-03 memo Tractor 1119
	12-03 bid documents Tractor 1119
	12-03 Vacation Leave Memo 11.21.19



